RECEIVED

Nov 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT ALLEN HENDERSON, JR.,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001211

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred denying appellant's motion to suppress drug evidence found during a warrantless search of appellant in violation of the Fourth Amendment where no exception applied, and appellant's will was overborne such that his consent was not voluntarily given?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 25, 2023, a Pickens County grand jury indicted appellant for possession with intent to distribute (PWID) methamphetamine. R. 194-195. On July 8-9, 2024, appellant's case was called to trial before the Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, and a jury. R. 1. Katelyn Williams and Jeffery Zuschke represented appellant. R. 1. Assistant solicitors, Adam Norris and Jake Hofferth, prosecuted for the state. R. 1.

The jury found appellant was *not guilty* of PWID methamphetamine but guilty of simple possession of methamphetamine.¹ R. 184, ll. 13-23; verdict form. The trial court sentenced appellant to ten years' imprisonment, suspended upon the service of four years' imprisonment and three years' probation. R. 188, ll. 12-17.

This appeal follows.

¹ The transcript reflects the jury found appellant guilty of simple possession of "marijuana." R. 184, ll18-19. That is an error in the transcript as the jury charge, verdict form, and sentence sheet both reflect the accurate lesser included charge was possession of methamphetamine and appellant was not charged with any crime related to marijuana. R. 177, l. 22—179, l. 2; Verdict form; Sentence sheet.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *State v. Frasier*, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified its standard of review for cases involving an appeal from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds. 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022). In *Frasier* the Court explained due to the “dawn of the technological age, appellate courts are no longer dependent on the trial court” when the appellate court reviews the evidence. *Id.*, at 633–34, 879 S.E.2d at 766. Accordingly, the Court held “appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. *Id.* This dual inquiry means [the appellate court] review[s] the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion ... is a question of law subject to de novo review.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred denying appellant's motion to suppress drug evidence found during a warrantless search of appellant in violation of the Fourth Amendment where no exception applied, and appellant's will was overborne such that his consent was not voluntarily given.

Introductory facts

On January 6, 2022, around 10:30 pm-11:00 pm, officer Terry Bradley was patrolling the Sun Inn motel in Pickens County. Officer Bradley observed a white Toyota Corolla leaving the parking lot. Bradley alleged the tag light on the car was not illuminated. He conducted a traffic stop of the car and after a short interaction removed appellant from the car and searched him finding 3.53 grams of methamphetamine in appellant's pocket. R. 32—55.

Pre-trial motion to suppress

Prior to the start of trial defense counsel made a motion to suppress the drug evidence. R. 29—93. Defense counsel contended the drug evidence found in appellant's pocket should be suppressed where the stop was unlawful, the unlawful stop led to an unlawful seizure of appellant resulting in appellant's inability to consent. Thus, the search of appellant and the car were unlawful where appellant's consent was invalid because of the nature of the unlawful detention. R. 31, ll. 4-12; 72, ll. 1-5.

The arresting officer Deputy Terry Bradley testified he was patrolling “the Sun Inn [] a known high crime drug area” on January 6, 2022, between 10:30 pm and 11pm. Officer Bradley testified he noticed a white Toyota Corolla had no working tag lights and initiated a traffic stop. R. 32, l. 14—33, l. 5. Bradley asked the driver, appellant, to provide his driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance. Appellant provided his license and a DMV record and told Bradley he would have to call for insurance because he did not own the car. State's exhibit, 6,

Bradley's BWC time 0.35. Once found, appellant provided the registration for the car. Bradley testified appellant was "nervous" because appellant's hands were shaking, and he handed wrong documents to Bradley. He stated, based on appellant's supposed nervousness and confusion regarding the registration he believed appellant could be under the influence of alcohol or drugs. Bradley professed appellant's suspicious behavior consisted of handing him wrong documents, shaking hands, and smoking a cigarette. R. 33, ll. 9-25; 35, ll. 12-16. He testified there was nothing in plain view in the car or on appellant's person to cause any suspicion of the presence drugs or weapons. R. 39, l. 21—42, l. 12.

Bradley asked appellant if there were any weapons in his car, and then followed up by asking if he could search the car. He next asked appellant to get out of his car and quickly requested to search appellant. Appellant agreed to each request of Bradley's requests. Bradley reached in appellant's jacket pocket and found a clear baggie with a crystal-like substance. Bradley then arrested appellant. R. 34, ll. 1-21. He acknowledged that without appellant's consent he could not have searched the car or appellant based on the encounter. R. 50, ll. 5-10. The encounter was recorded on Bradley's body-worn camera and was admitted pre-trial as Defendant's exhibit 1.²

Appellant testified he was driving another person's car and that the tag lights had "fallen down" but that he had new bulbs and tried to place them. Appellant contended the tag light was illuminated on the evening he was stopped and arrested. R. 52, l. 15—53, l. 5.

Initially defense counsel argued the traffic stop was unlawful where the tag lights were working and there was no evidence other than the officer's testimony that the lights were out. R. 56, ll. 7-25. Counsel pointed out that there was a pending bill that precluded a traffic stop for

² Defendant's exhibit 1 was later changed to state's exhibit 6. R. 141, ll. 2-12. This exhibit is on file with the Court.

this reason in the absence of another traffic violation. R. 57, ll. 4-16. The solicitor argued the traffic stop was lawful where the officer testified the tag light was not working and that the officer had reasonable suspicion to continue the investigation because appellant handed him the wrong paperwork. They contended the totality of the circumstances required the officer to remove appellant from the vehicle and that regardless appellant gave consent for the search. R. 58, l. 11—59, l. 20. The court denied defense counsel's motion and found the traffic stop was lawful. R. 61, ll. 13-19.

Next, defense counsel asserted the drug evidence found during the stop should be suppressed because appellant was unlawfully detained after he was removed from his car. Counsel contended appellant was lawfully asked out of the car but when the officer began asking about searching the car and his person an unlawful detention began. Counsel averred that, while any traffic stop may have safety concerns, the officer here admittedly saw no weapons, no ammunition, and no other suspected contraband in plain view and there was nothing more the officer could have found in furtherance of his investigation into the tag light. R. 62, l. 1—64, l. 8. She argued the officer abandoned the original investigation and the detention became illegal where there was not reasonable suspicion to prolong the stop. R. 66, l. 15—67, l. 15. Counsel argued the officer had the authority to remove appellant from the car but did not have legal authority to perform a frisk. R. 73, ll. 7-15. She further asserted appellant's consent was invalid because of the unlawful detention and thus all evidence should be suppressed. R. 74, ll. 2-19; 86, l. 7—89, l. 3.

The solicitor argued that because of the brevity of the encounter, the scope of the original stop was not exceeded and that because appellant handed the officer a wrong document the

investigation for the stop had not been completed. R. 75, l. 19—77, ll. 24. He further contended appellant’s consent was voluntary under the circumstances. R. 89, ll. 6-24.

The court denied the motion to suppress finding the officer did not exceed the scope of the stop and therefore there was not an unlawful detention. The court further found appellant’s consent was voluntary. R. 92, l. 14—93, l. 24.

Discussion

“A person has been seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment at the point in time when, in light of all the circumstances surrounding an incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave.” *Robinson v. State*, 407 S.C. 169, 181, 754 S.E.2d 862, 868 (2014). Once police pull over a motor vehicle for a traffic violation, “the police may order the driver to exit the vehicle without violating Fourth Amendment proscriptions on unreasonable searches and seizures.” *State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106 (1977)). “In carrying out the stop, an officer may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” *Id.* (citing *United States v. Sullivan*, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)).

To prolong or exceed the scope of a stop beyond the initial traffic violation, law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion that criminal activity is occurring. *Robinson*, 407 S.C. at 182, 754 S.E.2d at 868-69 (“If, during the stop of the vehicle, the officer’s suspicions are confirmed or further aroused—even if for a different reason than he initiated the stop—the stop may be prolonged, and the scope of the detention enlarged as circumstances require.”). While reasonable suspicion is not susceptible to a rigid, formulaic approach, it requires more than a mere hunch or unparticularized suspicion. *Id.* at 182, 754 S.E.2d at 868. For an officer to have reasonable suspicion, “there [must] be an objective, specific basis for suspecting the person

stopped of criminal activity.” *Id.* Although reasonable suspicion is not a high bar and “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence, the Fourth Amendment requires at least a minimal level of objective justification for making the stop.” *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119 (2000). This inquiry involves the totality of the circumstances, and “[c]ourts must give due weight to common sense judgments reached by officers in light of their experience and training.” *State v. Moore*, 415 S.C. 245, 252-53, 781 S.E.2d 897, 901 (2016).

In *State v. Frasier*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held the police officer lacked reasonable suspicion to further detain the defendant after the initial traffic stop and the defendant did not voluntarily consent to the search of his person 437 S.C. 625, 879 S.E.2d 762 (2022). In that case, two plainclothes officers were observing a bus station as part of the department’s narcotics division. *Id.* at 629, 879 S.E.2d at 764. They saw a man, Frasier, leaving the station and look both ways before walking to a car driven by a woman. *Id.* When the car left the station, the officers noted that one of the brake lights was not working and called a patrol officer to conduct a traffic stop of the car. *Id.*

The officer that stopped the car testified when he initiated the stop the driver took longer than usual to pull over and when he arrived at the car her pant zipper was down. *Id.* The officer testified her zipper being down suggested she was potentially hiding contraband in her pants. *Id.* He also testified Frasier was nervous and was sweating profusely. *Id.* at 630, 879 S.E.2d at 764. Frasier was removed from the car and searched. *Id.* Frasier filed motion to suppress contending the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to prolong the stop and that he did not consent to a search of his person. *Id.* at 630, 879 S.E.2d 765. The motion to suppress was denied but reversed by the Court. *Id.* at 631, 879 S.E.2d 765.

In *State v. Moore*, the Court came to the opposite conclusion finding the officer had reasonable suspicion to further detain the defendant after the initial traffic stop. 415 S.C. 245, 781 S.E.2d 897 (2016). In that case, the Court found the totality of factors supported the trial court's finding that the officer had reasonable suspicion to prolong the stop where in addition to Moore's nervousness, Moore had a large sum of money in his pocket and Moore had an unusual itinerary. *Id.* at 253-255, 781 S.E.2d at 901-902.

Here, the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop of appellant. Appellant was cooperative albeit a bit unprepared with documents. He explained it was not his car and he was not familiar with which piece of paper was the registration and did not have the insurance card at hand. Bradley did not need to do any further investigation into the taillight, if it is to be believed that the light was indeed not working. There was no reason for Bradley to search either the car or appellant in furtherance of the taillight investigation. Instead of going to write a ticket Bradley unlawfully prolonged the stop and began another investigation citing no other reason than appellant's nervousness which under our case law is not sufficient.


Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the "totality of the circumstances." The burden is on the State to show voluntariness. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973); *State v. Middleton*, 266 S.C. 251, 222 S.E.2d 763 (1976); vacated on other grounds, 429 U.S. 807, 97 S.Ct. 44, 50 L.Ed.2d 69 (1976), reaffirmed 268 S.C. 152, 232 S.E.2d 342 (1977); *State v. Newman*, 261 S.C. 352, 200 S.E.2d 82 (1973), cert. den. 417 U.S. 932, 94 S.Ct. 2643, 41 L.Ed.2d 235. This "totality of the circumstances" test applies whether the consent was given in a noncustodial situation, *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, *supra*, and *State v. Ellefson*, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976), or in custodial situation, *United States v. Watson*, 423 U.S. 411, 96 S.Ct. 820, 46 L.Ed.2d 598 (1976).

State v. Wallace, 269 S.C. 547, 550, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977) (emphasis added).

Under the totality of the circumstances appellant's consent to search was not voluntary. Appellant was stopped late in the evening and removed from his car. He was not free to leave but was not yet officially placed under arrest. Notwithstanding his status, appellant was under the impression that he could not deny Officer Bradley's request to search his person or his vehicle. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to suppress drugs found during the warrantless search of appellant.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing the appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction and sentence and remand for a new trial.



Sarah E. Shipe
Appellate Defender