RECEIVED

Nov 04 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-001211

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ROBERT ALLEN HENDERSON, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge correctly declined to suppress the methamphetamine found hidden inside Appellant’s pocket during the course of the traffic stop because the deputy who stopped Appellant’s vehicle did not unreasonably prolong the stop beyond the time necessary to complete its mission prior to obtaining Appellant’s voluntary consent for the search that led to the discovery of the drugs.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by declining to suppress the evidence discovered through a purportedly unconstitutional consent-based search of Appellant’s pockets that was conducted during the course of the traffic stop.⁴ In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the stop was allegedly unlawfully extended without reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, his will was purportedly overborne, and the consent to search he provided to the officer was supposedly not voluntary under the totality of the circumstances. To the contrary, Deputy

⁴ Notably, although defense counsel moved for the methamphetamine found during the consent-based search to be suppressed during an in camera hearing conducted before the evidentiary phase of Appellant’s trial got underway, defense counsel affirmatively indicated to the trial judge she had “[n]o objection” to that evidence’s admission when the solicitor actually sought to introduce it during trial. (R. p. 123). Thus, despite the earlier objection raised, the trial judge ultimately admitted that evidence without objection. (R. p. 123). Under such circumstances, defense counsel’s earlier objection was *abandoned* instead of simply not renewed, and any issue concerning the admission of Appellant’s methamphetamine was not properly preserved for appellate review since that evidence was expressly admitted without objection during trial. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) (“[A] different approach is warranted where a court rules after a[n in limine] hearing on a constitutional issue. Under those circumstances, the ruling is final and, unless something changes during trial that may reasonably cause the trial judge to alter the pretrial ruling, no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.”); cf. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”). Therefore, notwithstanding the merit-based problems with Appellant’s arguments on appeal, the issue Appellant is attempting to now raise can and should be rejected as procedurally barred. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”).

Bradley—while in the process of conducting a valid traffic stop—lawfully asked Appellant for consent to search both his vehicle and person before the original purpose of the stop was or reasonably could have been concluded, and Appellant responded to the deputy’s requests by unequivocally providing consent. Following that, Deputy Bradley quickly found Appellant’s hidden methamphetamine during a search of Appellant’s pocket that was conducted with Appellant’s express and voluntarily-given permission. Under such circumstances, the consent-based search of Appellant’s pockets that led to the discovery of his methamphetamine was constitutionally proper, and the trial judge correctly declined to suppress the drugs. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

A. Just as the trial judge wisely recognized, the officer did not unlawfully, unreasonably, or unconstitutionally extend the traffic stop simply by asking Appellant for permission to search within less than three minutes of first making contact with him and before the purpose of the traffic stop was or reasonably could have been completed. Thus, Appellant’s consent was not the product of an unlawful or unconstitutional detention.

Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution provide protections to our citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. See U.S. Const. amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”). Significantly, based on their plain wording, the touchstone of those constitutional provisions is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). As a result, *only* unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C.

373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

For constitutional purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle is reasonable per se when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred *or* reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity. See Knight v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable *per se*.”). Notably, minor traffic offenses in South Carolina—including vehicle equipment violations—constitute misdemeanor *criminal* offenses. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-730 (“It is unlawful and, unless otherwise declared in [the Uniform Act Regulating Traffic on Highways] with respect to particular offenses, it is a misdemeanor for any person to do any act forbidden or to fail to perform any act required in this chapter.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4410 (“It shall be unlawful for any person to drive or move or for the owner to cause or knowingly permit to be driven or moved on any highway any vehicle or combination of vehicles which is in such an unsafe condition as to endanger any person or property or which does not contain those parts or is not at all times equipped with lights, brakes, steering and other equipment in proper condition and adjustment as required in this article or which is equipped in any manner in violation of this article or for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required under this article.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-6190 (“It is a misdemeanor for any person to violate any of the

provisions of [the Uniform Act Regulating Traffic on Highways] unless such violation is by this chapter or other law of this State declared to be a felony.”).

Once an investigatory traffic stop is initiated, it must be temporary and last no longer than necessary to effectuate its purpose. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 848 (Ct. App. 2005); see Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 349 (2015) (“Authority for the seizure ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed.”); see also United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 336 (4th Cir. 2008) (“The maximum acceptable length of a routine traffic stop cannot be stated with mathematical precision. Instead, the appropriate constitutional inquiry is whether the detention lasted longer than was necessary, given its purpose.”). Typically, such a stop begins at the point an officer stops a vehicle to investigate the basis for the stop and continues for the period necessary to complete the investigation *and* conduct the ordinary inquiries incident to any stop. Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 333 (2009); see Rodriguez, 575 U.S. at 355 (“Beyond determining whether to issue a traffic ticket, an officer’s mission includes ordinary inquiries incident to the traffic stop. Typically such inquiries involve checking the driver’s license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting the automobile’s registration and proof of insurance. These checks serve the same objective as enforcement of the traffic code: ensuring that vehicles on the road are operated safely and responsibly.” (citations, internal quotations, and brackets omitted)).

As part of the permissible inquiries during a traffic stop, an officer may order the driver and any passengers out of the vehicle pending completion of the stop and “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847; see Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) (“[A]n officer

making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”); Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 111 (1977) (per curiam) (instructing it is constitutionally proper for an officer to order the driver to exit a vehicle during a traffic stop and explaining the intrusion into the driver’s personal liberty occasioned by an order to exit the vehicle during the already-initiated stop is a de minimis one that “hardly rises to the level of a petty indignity” and, at most, constitutes a “mere inconvenience”); Milledge v. State, 422 S.C. 366, 375, 811 S.E.2d 796, 801 (2018) (“Upon initiating the traffic stop, a police officer may order the driver out of the vehicle in the interest of officer safety.”); see also State v. Hale, 489 P.3d 450, 454 (Idaho 2021) (“[B]ecause traffic-stops are fraught with danger to police officers, an officer may take certain negligibly burdensome precautions in order to complete his mission safely, such as asking for the driver and passenger to exit the vehicle[.]” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). Significantly, an officer’s traffic stop inquiries can *also* permissibly include questions related to whether the stopped vehicle contains anything illegal and requests for consent to search since such inquiries are legitimately related to ensuring officer safety during the stop. See United States v. Buzzard, 1 F.4th 198, 204 (4th Cir. 2021) (concluding a question about whether there is anything illegal in a stopped vehicle is related to officer safety and, thus, is related to a traffic stop’s mission); State v. Smith, 333 A.3d 971, 979 (Md. App. Ct. 2025) (“Among the questions the officer is permitted to ask during a Terry stop is whether the person will consent to a search of his person.”). Beyond that, an officer can also inquire into matters *unrelated* to the initial justification for the stop without converting the stop into something other than a lawful seizure so long as the unrelated questioning does not measurably extend the stop’s duration. Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333; see Muehler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 100-101 (2005) (recognizing additional questioning during a detention unrelated to the original

purpose of the detention does not per se constitute an additional seizure or independent constitutional violation).

Generally speaking, a traffic stop normally ends “when the police have no further need to control the scene, and inform the driver and passengers they are free to leave.” Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333; see Kothe v. State, 152 S.W.3d 54, 63-64 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004) (“On a routine traffic stop, police officers may request certain information from a driver, such as a driver’s license and car registration, and may conduct a computer check on that information. It is only after this computer check is completed, and the officer knows that this driver has a currently valid license, no outstanding warrants, and the car is not stolen, that the traffic-stop investigation is fully resolved.” (footnotes omitted)). However, a traffic stop detention “can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission.” Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848 (“Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention.”).

In the case sub judice, Deputy Bradley observed Appellant driving a vehicle that did not have a properly-functioning tag light as required by South Carolina law, which was an act that constituted a criminal offense in our state. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4410; see S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4530 (“Either a tail lamp or a separate lamp shall be so constructed and placed as to illuminate with a white light the rear registration plate and render it clearly legible from a distance of fifty feet to the rear. Any tail lamp or tail lamps, together with any separate lamp for illuminating the rear registration plate, shall be so wired as to be lighted whenever the head lamps or auxiliary driving lamps are lighted.”). Therefore, it was entirely proper for the deputy to initiate a traffic stop in Appellant’s case, and the seizure that resulted from it was

constitutionally reasonable and proper. Cf. State v. Jihad, 347 S.C. 12, 15, 553 S.E.2d 249, 251 (2001) (finding a traffic stop for an equipment violation was valid because “it is unlawful to drive with a non-functioning brake light”).

Furthermore, during the course of that validly-initiated traffic stop and accompanying seizure, Deputy Bradley—as a safety precaution—properly asked for and received consent from Appellant to conduct a search of him and his pockets, which was what led to the discovery of Appellant’s hidden methamphetamine. And, critically, that request for consent to search did not in any way unconstitutionally extend or expand the scope of the traffic stop because it was directly related to the ongoing stop’s mission since—like the deputy’s directive for Appellant to exit the vehicle—it served officer safety purposes by ensuring the deputy could safely complete the stop without having to worry about whether Appellant would pose any danger to him during the period in which his attention would necessarily have to be focused on conducting the routine steps involved in completing the stop.⁵ See Buzzard, 1 F.4th at 204 (recognizing questioning about whether anything illegal was present related to officer safety and, therefore, related to the traffic stop’s mission); see also Rodriguez, 575 U.S. at 354-356 (instructing “the tolerable duration of police inquiries in the traffic-stop context is determined by the seizure’s ‘mission’—to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop . . . *and attend to related safety concerns*” and explaining “the government’s officer safety interest stems from the mission of the stop itself . . . so an officer may need to take certain negligibly burdensome precautions in order to

⁵ Notably, Deputy Bradley had legitimate reasons to be concerned for his safety during the stop since it was being conducted during nighttime hours, he had just observed Appellant leaving an area he knew to be associated with drugs and high crime, and—despite being advised at the outset of the stop he had only been pulled over for an equipment violation—Appellant continued displaying overt signs of heightened nervousness, including by providing incorrect paperwork in response to a simple request for the vehicle’s registration. (R. pp. 32-34; pp. 113-117; State’s Ex. # 6).

complete his mission safely” (emphasis added)); Johnson, 555 U.S. at 330-331 (explaining traffic stops are especially fraught with danger to police officers); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 23 (1968) (“Certainly it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risks in the performance of their duties. American criminals have a long tradition of armed violence, and every year in this country many law enforcement officers are killed in the line of duty, and thousands more are wounded.”); cf. United States v. Bullock, 510 F.3d 342, 349 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“Statistics show that traffic stops continue to be extraordinarily dangerous to the police officers who risk their lives to protect the public. Every year in traffic stops and pursuits in the United States, about 6,000 police officers are assaulted—and about 10 officers are killed. By ordering Bullock out of the car and frisking him for purposes of officer safety, Officer Jackson did not take any unreasonable steps in attempting to ensure that he would not become one of these statistics.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). Under such circumstances, Appellant’s consent was *not* the product of any unlawful detention.

However, even assuming for argument’s sake Deputy Bradley’s request for consent to search somehow could be construed as being purely related to general law enforcement goals as opposed to the stop’s mission, that consent request *still* did not unlawfully extend the stop “by even a second” because it occurred while the original mission of the stop was still ongoing and progressing. Buzzard, 1 F.4th at 204. Specifically, Deputy Bradley asked Appellant for consent to conduct a search of him and his pockets just over two minutes after the encounter between the two began and *before* Appellant had even fully provided all the information the deputy requested and needed in order to be able to complete the stop.⁶ Cf. id. (“[Officer] Dawson was mid-stop

⁶ Indeed, defense counsel candidly conceded to the trial judge Appellant had not yet provided proof of insurance at the time the deputy asked for consent to search “so, technically, the stop was not over.” (R. p. 71). Beyond that, defense counsel admitted Appellant did *not* have a valid

when he asked whether there was anything illegal in the vehicle. He didn't yet have the information he needed to perform the customary checks on the driver and vehicle, and he was waiting for an additional officer to arrive so he could safely proceed with the stop. Because the question was asked during a lawful traffic stop and didn't prolong the stop, it passes constitutional muster under Rodriguez even if it exceeded the scope of the stop's mission.”).

Based on that, the deputy's request for consent to search did not and could not have extended the still-ongoing stop under the circumstances involved. Cf. United States v. Puckett, 139 F.4th 730, 739 (8th Cir. 2025) (concluding a request for consent to search did not unreasonably prolong a traffic stop and constitute a separate detention when “Trooper Rorie had not completed his traffic-stop related duties when he requested consent to search” and “[t]he 20 seconds of questioning did not prolong the stop beyond the time that it would have taken Trooper Rorie to issue a written citation or warning and have Puckett return to his vehicle”); United States v. Mathes, 58 F.4th 990, 993 (8th Cir. 2023) (“[Detective] Counce's request for permission to search required only a couple of seconds while Humes was standing at the rear of the vehicle. That inquiry did not extend the stop beyond the time that would have been required for Humes to return to the driver's seat. The officer thus did not unreasonably prolong the traffic stop.”); State v. Adams, 377 S.C. 334, 339, 659 S.E.2d 272, 275 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding Adams's consent was “given within the initial parameters of the lawful detention” occasioned by the traffic stop); Myers v. Commonwealth, 911 S.E.2d 828, 834 (Va. Ct. App. 2025) (“Trooper Greene asked to search the car before he had even collected the identifications and before he had checked the status of the driver's license. The driver readily acquiesced to the search; he did not hesitate or equivocate. Although the request to search the car had nothing to do with Trooper Greene's driver's license, which was a fact defense counsel acknowledged the deputy would have inevitably discovered at some point during the stop. (R. p. 85).

reason to initiate the traffic stop, it did not unlawfully extend the stop because the Fourth Amendment tolerates certain unrelated investigations that do not lengthen the roadside detention, such as checking driver's licenses." (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)).

For those reasons, Deputy Bradley's request for consent to search during the traffic stop was not improper and did not unlawfully extend the stop, and all the deputy's actions during the stop were entirely constitutionally reasonable. See Foster, 269 S.C. at 378, 237 S.E.2d at 591 (instructing only unreasonable actions are constitutionally prohibited). Accordingly, no matter whether Deputy Bradley did or did not possess reasonable suspicion of any *additional* crimes beyond the equipment violation at the time he asked for and received Appellant's consent, the trial judge correctly concluded that consent was not the product of an unconstitutional detention.

B. The search of Appellant's pockets was validly conducted with Appellant's voluntary consent, and, therefore, the trial judge correctly denied the suppression motion since Appellant's methamphetamine was found through a constitutionally-proper consent-based search.

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